





Export promotion and farmers' welfare impact: Evidence from common beans (Phaseolus vulgaris L) farming in Arusha, Tanzania

Eliaza Mkuna



International Institute of Social Studies

zafing

Research Report 2022/06

Published for: REPOA 157 Migombani/REPOA Streets, Regent Estate, P.O. Box 33223 Dar es Salaam.

Suggested citation:

Mkuna, E. (2022). Export promotion and farmers' welfare impact: Evidence from common beans (Phaseolus vulgaris L) farming in Arusha, Tanzania. REPOA, Dar es Salaam.

Research Report 2022/06

Suggested Keywords: Horticultural crops, exportation, welfare

@REPOA, 2022

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without the written permission of the copyright holder or the publisher.

This publication was produced with the financial support of the European Union, through the EU-ACP TradeCom II Programme, as part of the Targeted support to strengthen capacity of policymakers, exporters, and trade associations to assess and review trade and related economic policies to promote trade competitiveness and diversification for widening trading opportunities with the EU" project implemented by REPOA and ISS-Erasmus Its contents are the sole responsibility of the research team and do not necessarily reflect the views of the European Union, the EU-ACP TradeCom II Programme, REPOA or ISS-Erasmus. The Member States of the European Union have decided to link together their know-how, resources, and destinies. Together, they have built a zone of stability, democracy and sustainable development whilst maintaining cultural diversity, tolerance, and individual freedoms. The European Union is committed to sharing its achievements and its values with countries and peoples beyond its borders.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES	iv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	v
ABSTRACT	vi
INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background of the study	1
1.2 Problem statement and initial research questions	2
1.3 Overall objective	3
1.3.1 Specific objective	3
1.4 Research questions	3
1.5 Rationale for the study	3
LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1 Overview of common bean production and export in Tanzania	4
Table 1: Production trend of green beans in Tanzania from 2010-2019	5
Figure 1: Showing production trend of green beans in tones from 2010-2019	6
2.2. Horticultural crops export	6
Figure 2: Showing Tanzania exportation of green beans from 2010-2019	7
2.3 Institutional support for common beans production in Tanzania	7
2.3.1 Government support in horticultural sub-sector	8
2.4 Empirical review of horticultural export	9
2.5 Theoretical review of the study	10
2.5.1 Factor endowment theory	
2.5.2 Conceptual framework	11
Figure 3: Conceptual framework	11
METHODOLOGY	12
3.1. Description of the study area	12
3.2 Research design	12
3.3 Data collection	12
3.4 Sample size and sampling technique	12
3.5 Analytical methods	12
3.5.1. Socio-economic, institutional and production factors influencing common bean export and its extent by small scale farmers	I S 12
3.5.2 Modelling the impact of horticulture export on farmers welfare	13
Table 2: Definition of variables and measurement	14

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	16
4.1 Socio-economic, production and institutional characteristics of common be farmers	ans 16
Table 3: Characteristics of farmers interviewed (continuous variables) using independent t-test	
Table 4: Characteristics of farmers interviewed using Pearson chi-square metho	5d 17
4.1.1 Socio-economic factors of common beans farmers	
4.1.2 Production characteristics of common beans farmers	21
4.1.3 Institutional characteristics of common beans farmers	22
4.1.4 Welfare factors of the common beans farmers	24
4.2 Factors influencing common beans export	26
Table 5; Propensity score for farmers participation in common beans export (p model results)	robit 26
4.3 Factors influencing farmer's extent of common beans export	
Table 6: Factors influencing extent of common beans export by farmers	28
4.3 Farmers' perceptions of common beans exports	
4.3.1 Socio-economic factors	
Table 7: Reasons for exporting common beans: Socio-economic factors	
4.3.2 Institutional factors	
Table 8: Reasons for exporting common beans: Institutional factors	
4.3.3 Production factors	
Table 9: Reasons for exporting common beans: Production factors	
4.4 Impact of common beans export on farmer's welfare	
Table 10 presents the results of the impact of common beans export on farmers' welfa Gross Income from common beans, household consumption expenditure and assets v outcome variables	ire with alue as 32
Table 10: Impact of common beans export on farmers welfare: PSM results	
4.4.1 Impact of common beans export on farmer's assets endowment	
4.4.2 Impact of common beans export on farmer's income	
4.4.3 Impact of common beans export on farmer's consumption expenditure	
5.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION	
5.1 Summary and conclusion	34
5.2 Policy implications and recommendations	34
5.3 Areas for further research	34
REFERENCES	

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

TABLES

Table 1: Production Trend of Green Beans in Tanzania from 2010-2019	5
Table 2: Definition of variables and Measurement	14
Table 3: Characteristics of farmers interviewed (continuous variables)	using
independent t-test	16
Table 4: Characteristics of farmers interviewed using Pearson chi-square	method
	17
Table 5; Propensity score for farmers participation in common beans exp	ort (probit
model results)	26
Table 6: Factors influencing extent of common beans export by farmers.	28
Table 7: Reasons for exporting common beans: Socio-economic factors	30
Table 8: Reasons for exporting common beans: Institutional factors	32
Table 9: Reasons for exporting common beans: Production factors	32
Table 10: Impact of common beans export on farmers welfare: PSM resu	lts 32

FIGURES

Figure 1: Showing Production Trend of Green Beans in Tones from 2010-2	20196
Figure 2: Showing Tanzania Exportation of Green Beans From 2010-2019	7
Figure 3: Conceptual framework	11

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ARDL	Autoregressive-distributed lag
ATT	Average Treatment Effect
CIAT	International Centre for Tropical Agriculture
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FAOSTAT	Food and Agriculture Organization Statistics
FDI	foreign direct investment
FYDP	Five Year Development Plans
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
ISS	Institute of Social Studies
JKIA	Jomo Kenyatta International Airport
PPML	Poisson Pseudo-Maximum Likelihood
PSM	Propensity Score Matching
REPOA	Research on Poverty Alleviation
SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals
ТАНА	Tanzania Horticultural Association
UNCTAD	United Nations Conference on Trade and Development
URT	United Republic of Tanzania

ABSTRACT

Agriculture, including horticulture is a mainstay of development in Tanzania - however the country has not exploited much of its enormous export potential of horticultural produce. Recent studies on the horticulture production and export promotion have focused on various issues. These studies have provided significant contribution to the overview of the production, marketing and business-related aspects. However, the empirical relationship between horticulture export and its contribution on small scale farmer's welfare has been somewhat neglected in the literature despite its role in the development process being long recognised. Therefore, using quantitative analytical methods this study assesses the impact of horticulture export promotion on farmers' welfare in Arusha Tanzania.

The results of this study suggest that common beans' farmers in Tanzania are aware of significant role of exporting their crop than trading locally. Results further suggest that different factors such as age of a farmer, household size, other business, access to extension and contract farming are likely to influence the decision of farmers to export common beans. In addition, gender, marital status, experience, land size allocated for common beans, contract farming and marketing training can significantly influence the extent of common beans export. Specifically, it was observed that there's positive impact of common beans export on farmers' consumption expenditure. However, the export does not have any significant impact on farmers' income and assets ownership.

The study recommends that policy attention needs to shift from supporting and regulating particular trade policies only but should rather focus on how farmers will be trained and utilize the available opportunity of common beans export market. In addition, horticultural contract farming should be strengthened by the Government and monitored by the extension officers at the grassroots.

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the study

Economic growth is the leading goal for policy makers worldwide and is a primary aim of developing countries and a recurrent theme in the trade and development literature is the role of exports in this process (Sanjuán-López and Dawson, 2010; Hernandez, 2011). It is a conventional wisdom among policy makers and academics that export is a key factor in promoting economic growth in developing countries (Myovela *et a.*, 2015). However, one concern is that many developing countries are heavily dependent on primary commodity exports to developed countries (Alam and Myovella, 2016). Agricultural exports therefore can play an important role in economic growth, and export-led growth from agriculture may represent optimal resource allocation for those countries that have a comparative advantage in agricultural production particularly in Sub-saharan African countries such as Tanzania (Sanjuán-López and Dawson, 2010; Lwesya, 2018; Kanyangemu and Kundu, 2019).

Agriculture, including horticulture is a mainstay of development in Tanzania (Mallya 2019; Gupta, 2020). Horticulture industry in Tanzania is the fastest growing subsector within the agricultural sector with an annual average growth of about 9 - 12 per cent per annum (Match-Maker, 2017; TAHA, 2018; Juma *et al.*, 2019). This record of growth is more than double the overall annual growth rate of the agricultural sector. In 2015, horticulture contributed 38% of the foreign income earned from the agriculture sector. The exports value in 2015 reached US \$ 545 million, compared to US \$ 64 million in 2005. Horticulture sub sector employs about 2.5 million people, which makes the industry a major employer within the agricultural sector (Match-Maker, 2017).

The horticulture industry is dominated by small-scale farmers with less than 2 hectares, especially in vegetables production whereby they account for about 70% of vegetable producers. Majority of these small-scale farmers are not connected to the regional and international markets and therefore have limited chance to conduct export business themselves (Match-Maker, 2017). Tanzania is among world top 20 producers of fresh vegetables according to FAOSTAT data, although it has an insignificant position in the export of vegetables, mainly due to the current business arrangements whereby Tanzanian exporting companies are subsidiaries of large aggregation companies often based in Kenya, and these kinds of exports are not fully captured in Tanzania data (Match-Maker, 2017). The horticulture sector is dominated by varieties of vegetables include Asian vegetables, baby corn, baby marrow, beetroots, beans, cabbage, carrots and baby carrots, cauliflower, eggplant, kale, leeks, onions and shallots, okra, peas, potatoes, spinach, tomatoes and common beans.

The common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris L*.) is one of the principle food and cash crop legumes grown in the tropical world and most of the production takes place in developing countries (Hillocks *et al.*, 2006). Common or French beans are by far the most important pulse crop both as a source of dietary protein and calories and as a

source of farm income (Mishili *et al.,* 2015; Mutungi *et al.,* 2020). The crop is by far the most important legume in Tanzania. At least 34% of smallholder rural households cultivate the beans for its green leaves, green pods, and dry beans, and 16–41% sell part of the harvest to raise revenue (Stahley *et al.,* 2019; Mutungi *et al.,* 2019).

Various literatures show that Tanzania has not exploited much of its enormous export potential of horticultural produce and yet it is among the 20 biggest producers of horticultural crops in the world but does not feature among the 20 biggest exporters (Mayala and Bamanyisa, 2018; Gramzow*et al.*, 2018). Also, various challenges facing horticultural sector have been documented including limit or inhibit export of horticulture products both on the demand and supply side (Mashindano *et al.*, 2013). Thus, development of the horticultural sector in Tanzania particularly promotion of its export is inevitable and will offer many opportunities for investors, technology suppliers and knowledge institutes but at the same time challenges related to the investment climate in Tanzania will have to be addressed.

1.2 Problem statement and initial research questions

Tanzania's level of production of horticulture is increasing and there is still significant production potential although it does not contribute much to the vegetable export market despite the fact that she is among the top 20 producers of the crop (Mashindano *et al.*, 2013). This implies a clear and undesirable mismatch between vegetable production in Tanzania and official exports from the country (Mashindano *et al.*, 2013; Match-Maker, 2017). As a consequence, the country is losing significant benefits in terms of lost employment opportunities, lost incomes and more so the fact that the international statistics on production and exports are distorted. In addition, Tanzania does not seem to utilize her comparative advantage in the production of agro-based products in making potential impact in the world export market (Mashindano *et al.*, 2013).

Analysing the horticulture sub-export sector's performance, with a specific focus on the determinants of horticultural exports, had attracted the interest of policymakers and scholars in various areas of the world, particularly in developing countries (Dube *et al.*, 2018). This is because the export of horticultural items allows many developing nations to diversify their export base, which is currently dominated by tea, coffee, and cocoa exports. As a result, developing countries will be less reliant on a small number of core products. However, recent studies on the horticulture production and export promotion have focused on various issues such as factors development of horticulture extension support system for the small holder farmers influencing youth involvement in Horticulture Agribusiness in Tanzania; the role of seed companies on the horticulture value chain; and reduction of postharvest losses (Maginga, 2019; Guijtand Reuver, 2019;Ng'atigwa*et al.*, 2020; De Blasis, 2020; Samwel*et al.*, 2020; Warra*et al.*, 2020).

On the other hand, Tanzania's government and other stakeholders are currently promoting export in various agricultural commodities including horticultural produce. These studies have provided significant contribution to the overview of the production, marketing and business-related aspects. However, the empirical relationship between horticulture export and its contribution on small scale farmer's welfare has been somewhat neglected in the literature despite its role in the development process being long recognised. Therefore, this study seeks to understand the link and critically assess the impact of horticulture export promotion on farmers' welfare.

1.3 Overall objective

The overall objective of this study is to assess the link and critically assess the impact of horticulture export promotion on farmers' welfare.

1.3.1 Specific objective

- i. To examine socio-economic, institutional and production factors influencing horticulture export and its extent by small scale farmers
- ii. To analyse the impact of horticulture export on farmers welfare

1.4 Research questions

- i. What are the socio-economic, institutional and production factors influencing horticulture export and its extent by small scale farmers?
- ii. What is the impact of horticulture export on farmers' welfare?

1.5 Rationale for the study

Export promotion on the horticultural crops in Tanzania and its contribution on farmers welfare has been under emphasized for different reasons resulted from socioeconomic, institutional and production factors. The impact of export promotion activities intending to address these problems can be therefore expected to differ across goods with different degree of differentiation. Empirical evidence on this respect is virtually inexistent. This study aims at filling this gap in the literature by providing estimates of the effect of these factors over farmers farming practices. In addition, selected horticultural farmers in the study area will illustrate the unique patterns and specific areas for policy interventions in order to promote and develop export of horticultural crops. For instance, examining various institutions and how they link in the process of supporting small scale farmers will draw a clear map on how to design policies that harmonize and minimize challenges in export sector. Also, understanding socio-economic factors that determine farmers' decision to export horticultural crops will help to design different policies that consider the roles of socioeconomic, institutional and production factors. Furthermore, the cross-cutting issues will provide an avenue for further research that are important for horticultural production in Tanzania. The present research is therefore intended to make contributions to the literatures on determinants, extent, and roles of institutions in promoting horticultural crops exportation in Tanzania.

LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter presents the theoretical and empirical perspectives related to common beans export in the past studies. The Chapter covers the Overview of Common Bean production and export in Tanzania, Horticultural Crops export, institutional support for common beans production in Tanzania, government support in horticultural subsector, policies and strategies supporting horticultural export in Tanzania, empirical review of horticultural export and theoretical review of the study.

2.1 Overview of common bean production and export in Tanzania

Horticulture is an important sub-sector that can exploit the potential of the country particularly the underutilized arable land of 44.0 million ha. The Tanzanian horticultural industry faces several universal challenges, namely, weak production base, low productivity and quality, invisibility and marginalization, and limited access to finance especially lack of long-term financing and investment. It also faces bottlenecks in land, policy and infrastructure, inadequate market development support, weak industry linkages, limited entrepreneurship capability and inadequate skilled and competent human resources (URT, 2010). Common beans (French beans) is regarded as high valued crop amongst other horticultural produce with enormous potentials in world market (TAHA, 2011).

The common bean belongs to the legume plant foods with a long history in sub-Saharan Africa due to their multiple benefits. Pulses, and legumes in general, can play an important role in agriculture because their ability to biologically fix atmospheric nitrogen and to enhance the biological turnover of phosphorous; thus, they could become the cornerstone of sustainable agriculture in. Due to their rich nutritional value, pulses are an important part of a balanced, healthy diet. Legumes are a good source of protein and of micronutrients such as iron and zinc. Africa (Snapp *et al.*, 2018).

Many legume plant foods including common beans provide an important source of income as they can be sold for high prices at local or international markets. The price often reflects the nutrition packed nature of legume grains, with a high protein content. At the same time, a household survey in Malawi indicated that farmers were not always realizing a profit from legume sales, as labour inputs were high, access to good seed was poor, and legume prices varied tremendously (Snapp *et al.*, 2002). The crop (common beans) does not get the attention it deserves from the public sector nor the opportunity to attract private sector investment due to myriad of policy, institutional, technical, and socio-economic constraints. Legumes particularly common beans can therefore play a critical role in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) (Ojiewo *et al.*, 2018).

Green bean is grown as a cash crop by large scale and smallholder farmers, and more than 90 percent of the crop produced in eastern Africa is exported to regional and international markets. Green bean/snap bean is an important export vegetable crop in Kenya, Tanzania, and Uganda. Market preferences for green bean pods differ with regions. Most of the snap bean produced in Eastern Africa are round and thin mainly to suit European markets. Green bean is also grown by large commercial companies for export to overseas supermarkets and for canning industries. Due to the high pod quality, packaging, and post-harvest care required for export produce, smallholder farmers are organized into groups (CIAT, 2006).

FAO (2021) shows that green beans production trend from 2015-20219 by region, Africa's Production share accounts for (3.1%) which ranks the third, while Europe (3.7%) ranks the second and Asia (91.9%) leads the production of common beans in the world. In East Africa, Kenya is the leading producer of common bean (French bean), while Tanzania lags behind in the production of implying huge opportunity in the regional market.

In Tanzania, common beans are grown mostly in the northern Tanzania of Moshi, Arusha, Manyara province and little production in Morogoro province. Family growers in this mountainous area use a combination of rain-fed and irrigated agriculture. Most farmers own half a hectare of land which they efficiently manage with farmyard manure. Due to the strict inspection of the crop abroad, they keep off pesticides, all together. Fresh French Beans and different types of peas are currently the main exports in the (traditional) vegetables product group, accounting for about 50% in quantity and value (Match Maker Associates, 2017). Despite Tanzania being among world top 20 producers of fresh vegetables, it has an insignificant position in the export of vegetables, mainly due to the current business arrangements whereby Tanzanian exporting companies are subsidiaries of large aggregation companies often based in Kenya, and these kinds of exports are not fully captured in Tanzania data. (Match Maker Associates, 2017).

Year	Production (000 Tonnes)
2010	3200
2011	3500
2012	4200
2013	5000
2014	5745
2015	5419
2016	5800
2017	6120
2018	6440
2019	6760

Table 1: Production trend of green beans in Tanzania from 2010-2019

Source: FAO STAT (2021)



Figure 1: Showing production trend of green beans in tones from 2010-2019

Source: FAO STAT (2021)

2.2. Horticultural crops export

Increased horticultural produce trade between developing and high-income countries has been linked to: 1) increased foreign direct investment in developing country horticultural sectors; 2) increased horticultural export chain consolidation and vertical coordination; and 3) increased public food safety regulations and the spread of private food standards(Van den Broeck *et al.*, 2018).Tanzania ranks 5th worldwide in bean production and is the leading producer of beans in Africa which is produced almost entirely under intercropped systems with maize and other crops (FAOSTAT, 2014;Binagwa *et al.*, 2014). However, the main importing countries for Tanzania green beans are United Kingdom and European Union. Exports of green beans from the United Republic of Tanzania are fluctuating since Tanzania had its highest peak in 2014 for the decade, currently in 2019 recorded exports of 2198(000) tonnes. Despite of the sluggishness in export quantity, export value has intended to increase significantly through 2010 - 2019 period ending at 2,351 (000) US\$ in 2019. The export value has increased by 896.19 % from 2018 to 2019 (FAO, 2020).



Figure 2: Showing Tanzania exportation of green beans from 2010-2019

Source: FAO STAT (2021)

2.3 Institutional support for common beans production in Tanzania

National Development Vision 2025, which highlights the need to streamline and prioritize the country's development planning, implementation and follow-up mechanisms has led to a series development plans. One of it being the first Five Year Development Plans (FYDSPs) (FYDP 2011/12-2015/16) which aims to put in place the basic conditions for high, broad-based and pro-poor growth (FADPA, 2014). The Second Five Year Development Plan, 2016/17- 2020/21 with the theme "Nurturing Industrialization for Economic Transformation and Human Development Vision 2025(URT, 2016).

The FYDP I showed failure to transform the land through a shift from traditional to commercial use. This was to be done through facilitation and promotion of contracts between large scale farmers and out-growers in partnership with nuclear farmers. Large tracts of land were to be availed to commercial farmers and industrialists. However, this did not happen, and most of the planned projects, which required relatively large tracts of lands, have not been fully developed. Furthermore, Delays in decision making in a fast changing and dynamic global market, time is of the essence as projects feasible today may easily lose viability if there are delays in taking off (URT, 2016). The FYDP II focuses on many aspects including improvement of the existing Business and Investment Environment to be more conducive. The private sector remains the engine of growth, poverty reduction and the driver of economic transformation. The three roles cannot be effectively played if the business and investment environment is unsupportive and/or unfriendly. Large, small and micro

businesses need to strive and become effective partners in the development process. Making smallholder farmers, micro and small businesses part of the growth process, is an effective means to achieving inclusive growth (URT, 2016).

Tanzania Horticultural Development Strategy 2012- 2021 is a result of a strong and growing partnership between Government and the Private Sector in charting the future of the Horticulture Industry. The Strategy integrates with and supports the National Export Strategy and other relevant agriculture, trade and poverty alleviation strategies. The strategy envisages facilitating the development of horticultural industry so as to improve nutritional status, increase incomes and reduce poverty while increasing productivity and quality of the produce (URT, 2010).

2.3.1 Government support in horticultural sub-sector

The relationship between efficiency and per capita spending in agriculture is positive, but with a decreasing rate. This means that there could be a saturation point, beyond which the impact of additional public expenditure on agricultural efficiency could be very limited. Nevertheless, most African countries are still well below this threshold, suggesting that there is substantial room to increase efficiency through additional public expenditure in the sector (Pernechele *et al.*, 2021).

Research and development in agricultural has focused mainly on cereal crops while relatively little attention has been given to legumes despite their nutritional, health, ecological and economic importance. Cereal crops are referred to as staple or food security crops, while most legumes are non-staple crops or considered as cash crops for export. Thus policymakers and stakeholders recognize two categories of crops: cash crops and non-cash crops. Legumes are often wrongly grouped in the latter category, while they are targeted for cash sales, even fetching better prices in the local markets (Ojiewo *et al.*, 2018). Furthermore, Studies in India have showed that legume prices are often not regulated or supported by government policies, and vary tremendously from one market to another over time compared to stable prices associated with cereal prices (Rao, 2000). Spending a higher proportion of the budget for agriculture on public goods, such as research, extension services and technical assistance, is positively correlated with agricultural efficiency. This is particularly the case in countries with a more advanced level of agricultural transformation (FAO 2021).

2.3.1.1 Policies and Strategies supporting horticultural export in Tanzania

The horticulture industry has been operating within the framework of the national policy priorities, national framework of institutions as well as the legal framework. In Tanzania, horticulture is regarded as a subsector of agriculture. It falls under sectoral (agricultural) policies which include *"The draft of the national agricultural policy of 2010"* which seeks to revolutionize agriculture through modernization and productivity enhancement and The National Horticultural Strategy 2010-2020 which seeks to double agricultural exports by 2020.

"The national irrigation policy of 2009" seeks to expand land under agriculture and improve agricultural productivity and profitability for food security and poverty alleviation through irrigation. In addition, horticulture industry also falls under the "agricultural marketing policy of 2007" which seeks to develop an efficient, effective, flexible, accessible, and equitable agricultural marketing system such as institutional and tax reforms in value chain, infrastructure and private sector development.

Also, horticulture industry falls under "Rural Development Policy of 2001" focusing on increasing rural incomes through improving productivity of the agricultural sector, and growth of rural non-farm businesses to reduce poverty.

TAHA has successfully advocated for various policy reforms through lobbying and advocacy for policy reforms that have had a favorable impact on the horticultural industry as a whole. For example, TAHA was instrumental in getting Tanzania's government to abolish the 18 percent VAT on airfreight for horticulture products, which was impeding Tanzanian enterprises' ability to compete in international markets. Kenya's import prohibition on Tanzania's cut flowers in transit (placed by Kenya in 2011 to safeguard Kenya's horticulture industry from pests) was also abolished in 2013 by TAHA through JKIA for export to Europe and other countries.

2.4 Empirical review of horticultural export

Several empirical studies on agricultural exports, particularly in the horticulture industry, have been done. In order to determine the elements that influence the export of horticulture commodities, many methods of study have been used. Some of the findings were comparable, while others were dissimilar.

Meme, (2015) used secondary time series data for horticultural export, real exchange rates, agricultural GDP, real interest rate, and foreign income for a period of 30 years from 1984 to 2014 to examine the factors impacting the export of horticulture commodities in Kenya. The Cointegration, error correction model was used to analyze this type of data. The findings demonstrated that the real exchange rate, agriculture GDP, and real interest rate all had a substantial impact on horticulture exports. Foreign earnings were found to be minimal in comparison to horticulture exports. The report advised the government to assess and implement policies aimed at raising agricultural GDP, achieving competitive exchange rates, and lowering lending rates in order to boost Kenyan horticultural exports.

Mold and Prizzon (2008) discovered that pricing had a minor impact on agricultural exports. The results of pooled regression estimates of unit price elasticity of African exports for the period 1980-2001 revealed that agricultural exports had a negative and substantial co-efficient, meaning that African countries boosted agricultural exports as international prices fell.

A comparable empirical study was undertaken by Braha et al., (2017) to analyse the primary factors of its agricultural export. For the period of 17 years, from 1996 to 2013,

the baseline gravity model was used to analyse Albanian export flows using conventional gravity variables. To examine the effects of the Albanian Diaspora, exchange rate and price stability, trade liberalization, and institutional distance, the model was estimated in a stepwise manner using the Poisson Pseudo-Maximum Likelihood (PPML). The main findings of this study revealed that the size of the economy has a substantial impact on agricultural export, implying that importers' absorption capacity has a greater impact on Albanian productive potential

Furthermore, Dube et al., (2018) examined the horticulture subsector's export performance in Ethiopia. The study looked at the elements that influenced Ethiopia's export performance from 1985 to 2016. The study also used secondary time series data from the National Bank of Ethiopia, Ethiopia Horticulture Producer Exporter Association, Ministry of Agriculture of Ethiopia, FAOSTAT, UNCTAD, and the World Bank to examine the relationship between the series of data using the Autoregressivedistributed lag (ARDL) bound test Cointegration approach. There was Cointegration among the data series, as demonstrated by the Error Correction Model. The real effective exchange rate, Ethiopia's real GDP, foreign direct investment (FDI), pricing, and the structural break all had a substantial impact on horticulture export performance in the short and long run, according to the model. Only in the long run did foreign GDP and real interest rates prove to be relevant. As a result, the study recommends supportive macroeconomic measures to boost Ethiopia's horticultural export performance. Nonetheless, the analysis was country-specific, with a focus on macroeconomic and supply-side aspects.

Salasya (1989), in a study on analysis of factors that influence export of French beans from Kenya used linear regression of total French beans exports on price and air freight charges. The regression findings showed that the co-efficient for price was positive but insignificant at 5 percent level. The air-freight co-efficient was negative and statistically significant at the 5% level. She claimed that price had a minor impact on the number of French beans shipped.

2.5 Theoretical review of the study

2.5.1 Factor endowment theory

Heckscher and Ohlin's (1935) factor endowment theory enhanced the classical theory of commerce by emphasizing the role of disparities in the endowments of factors of production in affecting commodity export and import, and thus trade patterns. The theory explains commodity trade patterns in terms of different countries' factor endowment proportions, based on the assumption that no factor of production is internationally mobile, despite the fact that some facts of production are stated to travel across borders in real life (Caves *et al.*, 2007).Furthermore, according to the Heckscher-Ohlin hypothesis, countries would gain from specializing in the manufacturing of commodities utilizing their most abundant factor of production. This means that the theory assumes substantial trade flows between nations with differing technology and factor endowments, but minor trade flows between nations with similar circumstances. The fact that even countries with identical technology and factor endowments may still trade in huge volumes proves this thesis false, given the majority of trade flows occur within industries (Caves *et al.*, 2007).

2.5.2 Conceptual framework

From the factor endowment theory above and to expand the argument of the theory, the current study seeks to know what other factors are than factor endowments that can influence the country's export, and more specifically, the horticultural produced crops. It is conceptualized that, common beans farmers in Arumeru District in Arusha are endowed with favorable resources (production factors) for common beans farming such as arable land, water and ready market as compared to other regions in the country. Therefore, given these resources together with other socio-economic and institutional factors influence farmers to engage in common beans export as indicated in Figure 3. Thus, the study aims to understand the link between these factors and their contribution n farmer's decision to export or not to export and if exporting what is the impact on their welfare.

Figure 3: Conceptual framework



Source: (Author's conceptualisation)

METHODOLOGY

This chapter presents research methodologies employed in this study. It describes research approach, research design, study area, study population, sample size, sampling technique, data collection, and analysis methods used.

3.1. Description of the study area

The study was conducted in Arumeru district in the Arusha region, north of Tanzania, where is a perfect location for export because of its good connections to the major eastern African seaport of Mombasa. Moreover, the region's equatorial climate allows the cultivation of vegetables and fruit all year round. Two wards with highest number of common beans exporters were also purposively selected which are Kikwe and Mbuguni Wards.

3.2 Research design

This study employed a cross-sectional design to collect data on relevant variables from a variety of common beans farmers in the study area. The information brought deeper insights and better understanding of the problems. The study reflects a mix of both qualitative and quantitative data and methodological treatments.

3.3 Data collection

Data was obtained from both primary and secondary sources. Primary data was obtained using semi-structured and structured questionnaires while secondary data was obtained from journals, articles, and research studies. Both quantitative and qualitative data were collected for the study. For the quantitative data, semi-structured questionnaires were used. The data generated through the questionnaires were analysed using STATA software.

3.4 Sample size and sampling technique

One hundred and thirty-one (131) respondents were interviewed. Out of this, 91 were engaged in common beans export while 40 were trading common beans locally. Purposive sampling (non-probability sampling) technique was used based on the intention or the purpose of study. The selected elements entail the population which only suits the best for the purpose of our study. Key informants i.e., trade, community development officers and agricultural extension officers were also interviewed to share general information on the institutional support for common export.

3.5 Analytical methods

3.5.1. Socio-economic, institutional and production factors influencing common beans export and its extent by small scale farmers

Probit regression model

This study will employ binary probit model with the assumption that, the decision by small holder farmer to export and the intensity/extent of exportation are decisions

which are made simultaneously. Thus, in this study the first stage is decision to export equation that will be estimated by using a probit model as described in equation 1.

$$d_i^* = X_{1i}^{'} \beta_i + U_i \qquad U_i N(0,1)$$
(1)

1 if
$$d_i > 0$$
 and 0 if $d_i \le 0$

Where d_i^* the latent discrete participation choice variable that denotes binary censoring (i.e., 1 means a farmer decides to export, and 0 means otherwise). X_{1i} are vector of explanatory variables hypothesized to influence participation choice (i.e socio-economic, institutional and production factors) and β_i s are vector of parameters and U_i is the standard error term.

Tobit regression model

The Tobit regression model is employed to quantify the magnitude and direction of the effects of the factors influencing common beans export. The Tobit or censored normal regression model assumes that the observed dependent variables Y_j for observations j = 1,..., n satisfy:

$$Y_i = \max(Y_i^*, 0) \tag{2}$$

Where the $Y_j^{*'}$'s are latent variables generated by the classica llinear regression model:

$$Y_{j}^{*} = \beta' X_{j} + U_{j}, Y_{j} = \begin{cases} Y_{j}^{*} if Y_{j}^{*} > 0\\ 0if Y_{j}^{*} \le 0 \end{cases}$$
(3)

Where X_j denotes vector of regressors, possibly including 1 for the intercept, and β' denotes the corresponding vector of parameters. The model errors U_j are assumed to be independently normally distributed: $U_j \approx N(0, \sigma^2)$. An observation of 0's on the dependent variable could mean either a "true" 0 or censored data Y_jor would always equal Y_j^{*} and the true model would be linear regression and not Tobit.

Tobit model parameters do not directly correspond to changes in the dependent variable brought about by changes in independent variables. According to Greene (2003), the marginal effect on the intensity of market participation due to changes in the explanatory variable is given as follows:

$$\frac{\partial E\left[\frac{Y_j}{X_j}\right]}{\partial X_j} = \beta \phi \left[\frac{\beta' X_j}{\sigma}\right]$$
(4)

3.5.2 Modelling the impact of horticulture export on farmers welfare

In this research, Propensity Score Matching (PSM) approach will be used to examine the impact of horticulture export on farmers' welfare which will be measured by Income as an indicator for welfare. The method compares the welfare of farmers who are exporting and those who are not. The parameter of interest in the estimation of the propensity score is the Average Treatment Effect on the Treated (ATT). The propensity score $p(Z_i)$ is defined as the conditional probability of farmers to export horticultural crops given pre-participation characteristics:

$$p(Z_i) \equiv Pr[L_i = |Z_i] = E[L_i | Z_i]; p(Z_i) = F\{h(Z_i)\}$$
(5)

where $L_i = (0,1)$ is the indicator of mobile money based enterprise participation and Z_i denotes a vector of pre-participation characteristics, and $F\{...\}$ can be a normal or logistic cumulative distribution. The propensity score can be predicted with either the logit or probit model. The predicted propensity scores can then be used to estimate treatment effects given the propensity score, the three effect are evaluated as:

$$ATE = E[E\{Y_i^* | L_i = 1, p(Z_i)\} - E\{Y_i | L_i = 0, p(Z_i)\}]$$
(6)

$$ATT = E[E\{Y_i^* | L_i = 1, p(Z_i)\} - E\{Y_i | L_i = 0, p(Z_i)\} | L_i = 1]$$
(7)

$$ATUT = E[E\{Y_i^* | L_i = 1, p(Z_i)\} - E\{Y_i | L_i = 0, p(Z_i)\}|L_i = 0]$$
(8)

Where Y_i^* and Y_i are two counterfactual outcomes of those who are exporting and those who are not exporting

Variables	Definition and measurement
Dependent variables	
Participation in Export	1 If a farmer is participating is exporting common beans, 0 otherwise
Annual Gross farm Income	Total amount of income from the sale of the common beans (in TZS)
Assets	Current monetary value of assets owned by a farmer he/she started since common beans farming (in TZS)
Household Expenditure	Household expenditure in TZS. (For precision, farmers were asked to remember their expenditure on quarterly basis). These expenditures included food, non-food items, different community contributions, entertainment and emergencies.
Independent variables	
Socio-economic factors	
Age	Age of household (measured in years)
Household size	Number of members of household (count)
Experience	Farmers experience in common beans production
Gender	Gender of the respondent (farmers)
Marital status	Marital status of a farmer (1 if married, 0 = otherwise)
Education	Education level of farmers (measured in number of years in school and then categorized).
Farm season	Farmers were asked if they farm on season basis (1=Yes, 2=No)
Other business	Farmers were asked if they were engaged in other economic activities in the last season
Production as the last per	
season	
Total Land size	Total land size owned by a farmer (acres)
Land size Beans	Size of the land dedicated for common beans production (acres)

Table 2: Definition of variables and measurement

Fertilizer costs	Total costs of fertilizer (all types of fertilizers used were asked and total monetary value in TZS, were computed)
Pesticide costs	Total costs of pesticides (all types of pesticides used were asked and total monetary value were computed)
Labour costs	Total costs used for labour (farmers were asked to remember number of labour used in each farming activities and their total costs were computed in TZS)
Yield	Production amount (Kg)
Distance to the market	
Institutional factors	
Access to extension	Farmers were asked if they had an access to extension services in the last season (1 yes, 2=No)
Extension days	Number of days visited by extension officers
Group membership	Farmers were asked if they engaged in any farmers group/association in the last season (1 yes, 2=No)
Access Credit	Farmers were asked if they had an access to credit in the last season (1 yes, 2=No)
Contract farming	Farmers were asked if they engaged in contract farming in the last season (1 yes, $2=No$)
Grade/Standard compliance	Farmers were asked if they were focusing on grade/standard
-	compliance in the last season (1 yes, 2=No)
Marketing training	Farmers were asked if they had an access to marketing
-	training/capacity building in the last season (1 yes, 2=No)

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

4.1 Socio-economic, production and institutional characteristics of common beans farmers

Table presents the descriptive statistics of continuous variables between farmers who are exporting common beans and those who are not exporting. These variables are categorized into demographic factors, market factors, welfare factors and other factors grouped into production as the last year season. Age, household size and experience are the important demographic factors of the farmers interviewed. Total land size, land size for beans production, fertilizer costs, pesticide costs, labour, number of extension days and number of times farmed are the socio-economic factors of common beans farmers gathered into production as the last year per season, distance to the marked is grouped into market variables while assets, expenditure and annual gross farm income is categorized into the welfare factors of the common beans farmers(as illustrated in table 1). These are the important socio-economic characteristics of the common beans' farmers interviewed. The socio-economic characteristics of common beans farmers are further explained as follows:

Characteristics Mean				
Demographic factors	Exporters	Local market	Combined	t-test
Age	47.5	48.7	47.9	0.5912
Household size	3.9	4.2	4	0.2389
Experience	19.4	20.8	19.8	0.4882
Production as the last per season				
Total Land size	2.02	1.8	1.9	0.1670
Land size Beans	1.6	1.5	1.59	0.5967
Fertilizer costs	148,274.7	111,925	137,175.6	0.0001***
Pesticide costs	39,285.71	34,650	37,870.23	0.0766*
Labour	52165.62	57487.5	53790.62	0.7133
Extension days	1.72	1.55	1.67	0.0496**
Number of times farmed	1.28	1	1.2	0.0003***
Market				
Distance to the market	39.67	24.77	35.12	0.0000***
Welfare factors				
Assets (TZS)	12,700,000	653,5250	10,800,000	0.0140**
Expenditure (TZS)	356,450.5	369725	360503.8	0.8518
Annual Gross farm Income (TZS)	3,413,718	2,574,879	2826531	0.0127**

Table 3: Characterist	ics of	farmers	interviewed	(continuous	variables)	using
independent t-test						

*,**,*** Significant at 10%, 5% and 1%

1 USD = 2,319TZS (June 2021)

Characteristics	Category	Exporters	Local	Overall	Chi-Square (χ2)
Socio economic factors					
Gender	Male	71	34	105	0.356
	Female	20	6	26	
			-		
Marital status	Married	86	39	125	0.450
	Not married	5	1	6	0.100
	Not married	5		0	
Head of Household	Head	70	36	106	0 079*
	Not head	21	<u>л</u>	25	0.075
	Not nead	21	4	25	
Education level	Primary	81	37	118	0 659
	Socondany	5	2	0	0.055
	Ligh school	5	5	0	
	Algh school	1	0	1	
	Certificate	2	0	2	
	Diploma	2	0	2	
	Vee	40	7	50	0 001***
Other business	Yes	43	/	50	0.001^^^
	NO	48	33	81	
Production factors				101	0.000.00
Farm season	Yes	81	40	121	0.029**
	No	10	0		
Institutional factors					
Extension services	Yes	25	18	43	0.049**
	No	66	22	88	
Group membership	Yes	80	13	93	0.000***
	No	11	27	38	
Access Credit	Yes	49	11	60	0.005**
	No	42	29	71	
			25		
Contract farming	Ves	89	7	96	0 000***
contract lanning	No	2	, 22	25	0.000
	NO	2	55	22	
Crada (Standard	Vec	ог	10	07	0 000***
Grade/Standard	Yes	85	12	97	0.000***
compliance	N	c	20	24	
	INO	Ю	28	34	
NA 1 · ·		70	2	01	0.0004++
Market training	Yes	/8	3	81	0.000***
	No	13	37	50	

Table 4: Characteristics of farmers interviewed using Pearson chi-square method

*,**,*** Significant at 10%, 5% and 1%

4.1.1 Socio-economic factors of common beans farmers

Age

The age of the common beans' farmer could affect market participation either positively or negatively. This is because young farmers could be more innovative and easily informed about the possible advantages of exporting common beans, hence this increases their chances of participating in export markets. Furthermore, age of the respondent has an implication on the acceptance to the new information thus influencing decision of common beans farmers' participation in export markets. Age variable has showed the higher means for farmers who traded locally than those who are exporting common beans. This implies that, older people take some time to accept and adopt the new information such as market information on common beans exportation - in turn many of them deny to export common beans whilst the youth can easily accept and adopt to the new forms of market systems which enables them to participate more in common beans exportation. Results show that, the mean for common beans farmers who are selling locally is 48.7 higher than the mean for farmers who participate in export markets (47.5). These results might be caused by the nature of the export trade itself as it requires much movements, negotiations and close follow-up with the customers to ensure that common beans is delivered timely and payments are made as required. Therefore, sometimes, older farmers become in active and may get some difficulties to deal with some unfaithful youth or young traders in international markets while export common beans.

Household size

Household size can be viewed both in terms of family labour and the number of mouths to feed. This is because large household size results to higher consumption as compared to the smaller households. Similarly, large size of the household also indicates availability of labour hence affecting the total output to be produced because cultivation of common beans is labour intensive. Therefore, household size of the farmers affects participation in export markets both positively and negatively. Large families normally use large percept of the family income to meet the basic needs of the household members hence this restricts their possibility to invest more in cultivating common means so as to have surplus for exporting. Also, large household size minimizes the household income in a way that, only little amount is used in operating and managing the farming activities which in turn results to small output obtained, hence they fail to participate in export markets. Results show that, the means for large household size is 4.2 higher than the mean for small household size (3.9). Further, this implies that, the household head with large family will always be busy to meet the needs of the household members, hence spent large percept of the family income to meet the family needs such as food, shelter, clothes and education whereby only little remaining money is spent in common beans farming activities. Therefore, only small output of poor quality is obtained which do not suit the export markets standards.

Experience

Years of experience in common beans farming has an implication to the extent of farmers participating in export market. Older people who sometimes deny exporting common beans since they take time to adopt to the new market information are the ones who are more experienced in common beans farming - thus decreases the possibility for them to participate in export markets. Results show that, the mean for farmers who are selling locally is 20.8 higher than the mean for common beans farmers who are exporting (19.4). These results indicates that, older farmers who are more experience in common beans farming are less participating in export markets than youth/ young farmers. The higher the experience of common beans farmers in farming activities, the lower the possibility for them to adopt and accept new forms of markets hence high experience in common beans farming reduces the probability of farmers participating in export markets.

Gender

Gender represents sex of the common beans' farmer. Gender of the respondent also has an influence on the decision to participate in the export market. Male headed household have a higher tendency to participate compared to females. Males are considered more vigilant and willing to take up risks compared to female who fear for the food security of the members. Gender of the farmer have a negative relationship with farmers participation in exporting common beans because female farmers are faced with more challenges compared to the male farmers in terms of access to information and resources. Results show that, male exporters are male exporters are many than the female exporters indicating that, males are the one who mostly export common beans while the female farmers are selling to the local market.

Marital status

This is an independent variable that represents the marital status of the head of the household. The variable takes the value 1 if the household head is married and 0 otherwise. If the household is married, this increases the likelihood of them participating in exporting the common beans while if the household head is not married, meaning that it becomes difficult to export common beans given that, the household will be alone and very busy to ensure the basic needs of the family such as food, shelter, clothes, and education for the children are provided. Results show that, exporters of the common beans are those ones who are married while those who are not married are selling to the local market.

Household head

Household head also affects farmer's participation in exporting the common beans. This is because the household head is in position to make decision for the family also the household head has the authority and power for all decisions concerning the family. If the farmer is the household head, this increases the likelihood of participation in export markets while if the farmer is not the household head; the probability of participating in export market is minimized. Mean for the household head for exporters is higher than the mean for the farmers who are selling in the local market. Also, household head is statistically significant influencing farmers participation in export markets at 0.1 level of significance (P < 0.1).

Education

Education level have mixed results since on the one hand, educated farmers who are committed in farming may be able to take up improved technologies faster as they understand the benefits associated with the technology, hence increasing their efficiency in production as well as the output obtained. On the other hand, educated farmers may be more engaged in other income generating activities and avail less attention to their farms, hence lowering their efficiency. Education level also has ambiguous effects on the decision to participate in export markets. First it is expected to enhance the household decision making process with regards to market dynamics like when to sell. Also, an educated household is likely to know more about input usage and the consequent of output sales. In addition to that, they are likely to be endowed with better business and managerial skills that will equip them for the commercialization process. Similarly, education tends to increase the chances of an individual securing a decent job hence lowering the chances of engaging in commercial agriculture. Results show that, farmers who are not educated, those ones with primary school level of education are the ones who exports more than the educated farmers.

Other business

Similarly, farmers whose main occupation is farming are expected to have lower efficiency than those engaging in employment and other businesses as well. This is because the latter are more able to finance their farming activities. Off-farm income is having a positive effect on production efficiency hence increase the likelihood of farmers to participate in export markets. This is because, farmers with other business have a regular source of income that they can use to acquire farm inputs as well as to supervise and manage all other farm and production activities. Results show that, other business is statistically significant influencing farmers participation in common beans exportation at 0.01 level of significance (P < 0.01)

Extension services

This represents a set of variables that is a proxy measure of the formal source of agriculture production and market access information. This is a binary variable taking a value 1 if the household received any extension service for both production and marketing and 0 otherwise. This is because the extension agents are responsible for the transfer of technology that has been carefully developed by research. This serves as expected to impact positively on total output produced and the decision to participate in the market. Results show that, extension services is statistically significant influencing farmers participation in export markets at 0.05 level of significance (P<0.05). However, only a small number of the respondents received extension services which provided a challenge for the government to encourage and support the extension officers in implementing their roles so as to increase farmer's participation in export markets.

4.1.2 Production characteristics of common beans farmers

Total Land size

The higher the total land size owned by the household, the higher the output and surplus obtained (other things remain constant). The higher the total land size, results to the higher output realized and consequently the amount sold out to the market. This variable is important as it shows the total area that the household can allocate to various uses. Therefore, total land size of the household increases the possibility of farmers to participate in export markets. Results show that, the means for farmers who are exporting is 2.02 higher than the means for farmers who are selling the common beans locally (1.8). This implies that, total land size of the household has a positive implication towards farmer's participation in common beans exportation though not statistically significant.

Land size Beans

Participation in common beans export market is predominantly determined by the size of the land allocated for beans production. Land size allocated for beans production is a proxy measure of scale of production hence determining surplus production for the export market. Martey *et al.*, (2012) confirm that larger farms have potential for a household to increase its marketable surplus hence increasing market participation. Larger farms are also likely to benefit from scale economies which translate into lower transaction cost and increased potential of participating in the market. Results shows that, the mean for farmers who are exporting common beans is 1.6 higher than the mean for common beans farmers who are selling locally (1.5). This implies that, large size of the land allocated for beans production has an important implication on influencing export market participation by the common beans' farmers.

Fertilizer costs

The cost of fertilizer that the farmers spent in common beans production has an implication towards farmer's participation in export markets. The more fertilizer used, the higher the harvest and possibly the more output sold in the market by the farmer. When higher cost is used in production of common beans, this results to large amount of output harvested, hence increases the possibility of farmers engaging in export markets. Results show that, much fertilizer costs are used by exporters (TZS148,274.7/=) compared to the cost used by farmers who are selling locally (TZS 111,925/=). Moreover, results reveal that, fertilizer costs are statistically significant at 0.01 level of significance (P<0.01) which implies, there is significant relationship between fertilizer costs and probability of farmers participation in exporting common beans.

Pesticide costs

The costs of pesticides invested in common beans production also influence the probability of farmer's participation in export markets. Higher cost of pesticides in managing common beans crops during farming practices, results to large amount of output obtained hence increases the chances/ probability of farmers to export the common beans given that there is higher output of high quality. Results depicts that,

much "pesticides costs" is used by farmers who are exporting the common beans (TZS 39,285.71/=) compared to the pesticides costs used by the farmers who are selling locally (TZS 34,650/=). Also, "pesticide costs" is statistically significant at 0.05 level of significance (P<0.05) indicating that pesticide is an important and significant aspect for farmers who are exporting common beans.

Labour costs

Common beans production is labour intensive production, therefore availability of labour in production activities increases the possibility of farmers to export more given that, more surplus will be available for trade purposes. However, results show that, the mean labour for farmers who are selling locally is higher than the mean labour for farmers who are exporting the common beans. This could be caused by the fact that, more labour who are available to work in farming activities are unskilled labour hence they apply low technology in production activities results to small amount of output of poor quality that will be obtained. This reduces the possibility of farmers to export the common beans.

Number of times farmed

This refers to the number of times that the farmers cultivate common beans in a year. Higher number of time increases the likelihood of common beans farmers to participate in export markets. The mean for number of times farmed by farmers who are exporting common beans is higher (1.28) than the mean for farmers who are selling locally (1). This implies that, exporters cultivate common beans many times a year than farmers who are selling locally. Number of times farmed is statistically significant influencing common beans exportation at 0.01 level of significance (P < 0.01).

Farm season

If the common beans farmers they farm on season basis, more output will be obtained since the production season support common beans production activities hence likelihood of farmers to export will increase. Results show that, farm season is statistically influencing market participation by common beans farmers at 0.05 level of significance (P<0.05)

4.1.3 Institutional characteristics of common beans farmers

Extension days

This refers to the number of days that the extension officer pays a visit to the farmers so as to advise those concerning modern means of production and market information. he large the number of extension days the higher the possibility of farmers to access the information on the better methods of farming and improved technologies that improve productivity results to higher output obtained sufficient to be exported. This is because the extension agents are responsible for the transfer of technology that has been carefully developed by research. This serves as expected to impact positively on total output produced and the decision to participate in the market. Results show that, mean for the mean number of extension days for farmers who are exporting the common beans is higher (1.72) compared to the mean of farmers who are selling locally (1.55). Also, number of extension days is statistically significant at 0.05 level of significance (P<0.05) which implies that the number of days that a farmer is visited by extension agent plays a great role in production for those who are exporting common beans.

Group membership

Group membership help farmers to mitigate problems associated with market imperfections. This also increases the bargaining power of the farmers since they will be in position to sell their produce in bulk. Results shows that, group membership is statistically influencing farmer's participation in common beans exportation at 0.01 level of significance (P<0.01). Group membership also increases the likelihood for farmers to access market information and credit hence possibility of them to export the common beans is also increased.

Access to credit

Access to credit provides funds necessary for farmers to overcome liquidity problems that hinder them from purchasing inputs on time. Also, the farmers can be in position to use the improved common beans varieties as well as managing the production activities which in turn increases surplus obtained sufficient to be exported. Results shows that, access to credit is statistically influencing export market participation by common beans farmers at 0.01 level of significance (P<0.01).

Contract farming increases the likelihood for farmers to participate in export market. This is because the Farmer who is unable to purchase the improved seed varieties as well as applying the modern technology, will now is in position to use the improved seeds of the farm owner. These results for more output to be obtained hence increases the possibility of farmers to export the common beans. Contract farming is statistically significant influencing export market participation by the common beans' farmers t 0.01 level of significance (P < 0.01)

Access to market training

Access to market training increases the likelihood of farmers participating in export markets. With market training, the farmers will now be able to understand various procedures and requirements necessary in exporting rice hence increases the likelihood of them to participate in exporting the common beans. Results show that, market training is statistically influencing market participation by common beans farmers at 0.01 level of significance (P<0.01)

Grade/standard compliance

If the farmers were focusing on grade/standard compliance when producing the common beans, this leads to the produce with high quality and standards which can competes in the international markets hence increases the likelihood of farmers to participate in export markets. Results show that, grade/ standard compliance is statistically influencing market participation by common beans farmers at 0.01 level of significance (P<0.01)

Distance to the market

This is a continuous variable that reflects the total distance from the household resident to the marketplace. Distance from the farm to the market is noted as a major constraint to the intensity of export market participation by the smallholder farmers. This is because nearness to the market increases access market information, inputs, and credit. Whereby, farmers can be in position to access and learn about export requirements and procedures. Moreover, nearness to the market simplifies the transportation activities hence influences farmer's participation in export markets. Access to transport facilities both rural and urban roads and improved delivery systems of the produce influence market participation by the farmers. Results show that, the mean for farmers who are exporting common beans is (39.67) higher than the mean for farmers who are selling locally (24.77) implying that, distance to the market is an important factor influencing participation in export markets by common beans farmers. Also distance to the market is statistically significant influencing market participation by common beans farmers at 0.01 level of significance (P<0.01)

4.1.4 Welfare factors of the common beans' farmers

Assets

These refers to all the possessions of the household such as include land, livestock and poultry, hand hoes, radio, television, mobile phone and bicycle. Household assets increase the ability of the household to obtain information about possible market areas and the consequent response to the market information by the household in question. Also has a positive effect on farming activities as it increases efficiency in production. Specifically, bicycles and motor vehicles help farmers to move easily to the market, radios and televisions help farmers to access information through the media, while mobile phones assist the farmers to communicate and exchange information quickly. As such, the assets combined to make the farm more efficient hence increase the likelihood of common beans farmers to participate in export markets. Results show that, mean assets for farmers who are exporting common beans is (TZS 12,700,000/=) higher than the mean assets for farmers who are selling locally (TZS 653, 5250/=). Also, assets owned by the household is statistically significant influencing farmers participation in export markets at 0.05 level of significance (P<0.05) indicating that, assets owned by the household is an important factor influencing farmers participation in export markets.

Expenditure

Household expenditure per year on common beans farm activities also influences the possibility of farmer's participation in export markets. The higher the expenditure in common beans production the higher the output to be obtained hence increases the likelihood of farmers to participate in export markets. This is because if the farmer spent large amount of the household income in managing the farm, buying inputs and improved seeds, paying the labours, and supervising all activities, this results to large quantity harvested hence more surplus is obtained to be exported. Results show that, mean expenditure of farmers who are exporting common beans is TZS 356,450.5/=

higher than the mean expenditure for the farmers who are selling locally (TZS 369725/=). This implies that, household expenditure is an important factor to be considered so as to increase the likelihood of farmers to participate in export markets.

Annual gross farm income

Annual gross farm income is also an important factor that increases the likelihood of farmer's participation in common beans exportation. The higher the annual gross income of the household, the higher the output harvested hence results to more surpluses which in turn increase the likelihood of farmers to participate in export markets. Amount of money invested in common beans production enables the farmer to highly invest in common beans production, cover the necessary costs and undertaking bigger risks in running business activities thus increases the likelihood of common beans farmers participation in export markets. Results show that, mean annual gross farm income for exporters is higher (TZS 3,413,718/=) than the mean annual gross farm income for farmers for farmers who are selling locally (TZS 2,574,879/=). Similarly, annual gross farm income is statistically significant influencing farmers participation in export markets at 0.05 level significance (P<0.05).

4.2 Factors influencing common beans export

Table 5; Propensity	score for	farmers	participation	in	common	beans	export	(probit
model results)								

Variables	Coefficient	Marginal effects	Standard Error	z	P>z
Socio-economic factors					
Gender	0.206408	0.004	2.410575	0.09	0.932
Age	-0.12371	-0.002	0.071083	-1.74	0.082*
Marital status	-3.42952	-0.066	2.16E+00	-1.59	0.113
Household size	-1.83563	-0.036	8.73E-01	-2.1	0.035**
Education level	-1.3205	-0.026	1.434762	-9.20E-01	0.357
Experience	0.232216	0.004	0.121902	1.9	0.057*
Other business	-2.54162	-0.049	1.414479	-1.8	0.072*
Production as the last per seas	on				
Land size Beans	1.822536	0.035	2.525153	0.72	0.47
Fertilizer costs	-2.62325	-0.051	1.668951	-1.57	0.116
Labour costs	-0.49573	-0.010	0.444521	-1.12	0.265
Pesticide costs	1.667701	0.032	1.750571	0.95	0.341
Institutional factors					
Access to extension	4.663797	0.090	2.31773	2.01	0.044**
Group membership	4.051503	0.078	3.444391	1.18	0.239
Access Credit	-5.33292	-0.103	3.534744	-1.51	0.131
Contract farming	-7.90972	-0.153	3.232005	-2.45	0.014**
Distance to the market	-0.03388	-0.001	0.081923	-0.41	0.679
Marketing training	-4.88869	-0.095	3.79042	-1.29	0.197
_cons	49.34772		33.99057	1.45	0.147
Log likelihood	-12.558681				
Number of obs	131				
LR chi2(17)	136.10				
Prob> chi2	0.0000				
Pseudo R2	0.8442				
Outcome correctly specified	96.18%				

*,**,*** Significant at 10%, 5% and 1%

Age of a farmer

Age has negative influence on farmers participation in common beans export and statistically significant at 10% level and has a marginal effect of -0.002, other things being equal. An increase in age of household would reduce the probability of farmer's participation in common beans export by 0.2 %. This implies that when household age increases, they become less motive to involve agriculture as mental capacity and physical ability to do manual work decreases and youth become more likely to engage fully in the common bean production. This aligns with Nwaru and Iwuji (2005) reported that entrepreneurship gradually becomes less as the age of the entrepreneur increases.

Household size

Household size has negative influence on farmers participation in common beans export and statistically significant at 5% level and has a marginal effect of -0.036, other things being equal. An increase of household size would reduce the probability of farmer's participation in common beans export by 3.6%. This implies that household size which indicates the number of family labourers used in production is not a crucial factor to make the farmers produce and export common beans since the country has never had shortage of it. This finding stresses to answer the question on the needs and essential facilities required by these household to engage fully on the production and maximize export quantity. This confirms with the study done by SNV (2012), focuses on the matter of poor technology and innovation among common beans farmers leading to post harvest losses which account for significant losses in yield at farm level.

Other Business

Other Business has negative influence on farmers participation in common beans export and statistically significant at 10% level and has a marginal effect of -0.049, other things being equal. An increase engagement in other business would reduce the probability of farmer's participation in common beans export by 4.9 %. This implies that engagement of farmers in other economic activities apart from common beans production and export eases the burden of dependence on agriculture sector which is mostly unproductive in Tanzania. This aligns with the study done by Mishra *et al.*, 2015), found farmer's engagement in off farm activities enhances food security as they manage food consumption fluctuations better than a household without such an activity.

Access to extension

Access to extension has positive influence on farmers participation in common beans export and statistically significant at 5% level and has a marginal effect of 0.090, other things being equal. An increase in Access to extension would result in 9% probability of farmer's participation in common beans export. This implies that extension service including training to farmers is still imperative especially in common beans production which is affected much by pests and diseases and intensive use of pesticides may result to non-compliance of international standard. The risks associated with the lack of compliance to the specified standards are borne by the farmer (Prowse, 2012). This is consistent with the results by Okello*et al.,* (2007), Some companies would not accept beans produced by smallholders for fear that they might violate its client's pesticide residue and hygiene standards. This concludes that extension service should be increased especially to smallholder farmers to expose them with proper method of farming using minimum pesticides to adhere with good Agriculture Practices (GAP).

Contract farming

Contract farming has negative influence on farmers participation in common beans export and statistically significant at 5% level and has a marginal effect of -0.153, other things being equal. An increase in Contract farming would reduce the probability of farmer's participation in common beans export by 15.3 %. The reasons for this could

be associated with the setbacks experienced in contract farming such as excessive power among buyers leading to exploitation of small holder farmers. This confirms with the study done by Singh (2008), Buyers are violating terms of the agreement by delaying payment and deliveries to factory or by manipulating provisions of the contract. Other studies are contrary to the current findings and concluded that smallholder farmers have remained to be passive actors in the contract farming programmes. Nevertheless, the general impact on the economic gains at farm level is positive (Match Maker Associates, 2006).

4.3 Factors influencing farmer's extent of common beans export

Table 6 below presents the factors that are influencing extent of common beans export

Variables	Coefficient	Marginal effects	Std. Err.	t-statistics	P>t
Socio-economic factors					
Gender	-0.046	-0.046	0.015	-3.11	0.002**
Age	0.000	0.000	0.001	-6.00E-02	0.949
Marital status	0.086	0.086	0.025	3.49E+00	0.001***
Household size	0.004	0.004	0.004	1.17	0.246
Education level	0.005	0.005	0.007	0.76	0.448
Experience	-0.002	-0.002	0.001	-2.91	0.004**
Other business	0.000	0.000	0.011	0.03	0.98
Production as the last per season					
Land size Beans	-0.028	-0.028	0.012	-2.39	0.018**
Fertilizer costs	0.002	0.002	0.015	0.15	0.878
Pesticide costs	0.004	0.004	0.015	0.27	0.784
Labour costs	0.009	0.009	0.007	1.29	0.201
Institutional factors					
Access to extension	-0.011	-0.011	0.012	-0.89	0.377
Group membership	0.029	0.029	0.023	1.22	0.225
Access Credit	-0.024	-0.024	0.015	-1.63	0.107
Contract farming	0.117	0.117	0.024	4.88	0.000***
Distance to the market	0.000	0.000	0.001	-0.34	0.736
Marketing training	0.045	0.045	0.025	1.77	0.08*
_cons .22712			0.243	0.93	0.353
Log likelihood	198.03966				
Number of observation	131				
LR chi2(17)	157.45				
Prob> chi2	0.0000				

Table 6: Factors influencing extent of common beans export by farmers

*,**,*** Significant at 10%, 5% and 1%

Gender

The coefficient for gender of common beans farmers' variable was negative and statistically significant at the 5% level. This indicates that with an increase in the

number of male farmers the extent of common beans export will also decrease. The implication of this findings may be drawn from the literature on the role of African women in agriculture. A wide variety of literature is available on the importance of agriculture to economic development in Africa and on the critical role that rural women play within this sector. Women can greatly improve food security by working as labourers on farms or as farmers, but compared to men they have fewer opportunities and resources, making it difficult to enter the sector (Davidson, 2019; Human, 2020; Vemireddy and Pingali, 2021).

Marital status

The coefficient marital status variable was positive and statistically significant at the 1% level. This implies that, an increase in the number of farmers who are married will lead to an increase in the extent of common beans export. This is because marriage symbolize household responsibilities and hence influence farmers to work hard and eventually increase the exportation of common beans.

Experience

The coefficient for experience of common beans farmers' variable was negative and statistically significant at the 5% level. This indicates that an increase in the farmers' years of experience lead to a decline in the extent of export. The possible reasons for this could be the fact that within increase in the years of farming experience at some point a farmer might be bored and would like to try another crop or venture of interest.

Land size allocated for common beans

The coefficient for land size allocated for common beans production variable was negative and statistically significant at the 5% level. This implies that, an increase in the amount of land allocated for common beans export will lead to a decline in the extent of common beans export. The reasons could probably be that increasing more land space for common beans farming become difficult and inconvenient for small holder farmers to manage the production given his/her capital and skills.

Contract farming

The coefficient for contract farming for common beans production variable was positive and statistically significant at the 1% level. This implies an increase in the level of contract farming engagement by common beans farmers will lead to an increase in the extent of export. Contract farming a preharvest agreement between farmers and buyers is commonly understood as a useful tool to mitigate prevalent market failures and to reduce the risks facing smallholder farmers (Balwig *et al.*, 2009). Contract farming is believed to improve productivity and income because it facilitates coordination between farmers and other actors in terms of production, processing and marketing of agricultural products (Nguyen *et al.*, 2015).

Marketing training

The coefficient for marketing training for common beans production variable was positive and statistically significant at the 10% level. This implies that, access to market training motivate farmers to engage in exporting common beans as they become more

aware of the export structure and also, they learn to manage their farms for profit. The role of training in building farmers' capacity for successful agricultural development cannot be overemphasized (FAO, 2013). Building farmers' competences for agricultural development translates into increased demand for improved knowledge, information and technologies (Opolot *et al.*, 2018).

4.3 Farmers' perceptions of common beans exports

4.3.1 Socio-economic factors

To determine the reasons for exporting common beans the study estimated the equations by considering socio economic factors. In table.... the results show that, 3.30 percent of the farmers strongly agree that the exportation of common beans is due to the existence of reliable traders. Moreover, 54.95 percent of the farmers agree that the exportation of common beans is due to the existence of reliable traders. However, 41.76 percent of the farmers have a neutral perception if the exportation of common beans is due to the availability of reliable trades. Regarding market condition of the crop, the study found that 1 percent of the farmers strongly agree that crop marketability influence the exportation of common beans. Whereby 35.16 percent of the farmers also agree that crop marketability influence the exportation of common beans. However, 63.74 percent of the farmers have a neutral perception if the crop.

The study findings also report that exportation of common beans is due to the good price commanded by the crop in the market where by 1 percent of the farmers strongly agree, 58.24 percent only agree, and 40.66 percent of the farmers are having a neutral opinion. Moreover, considering the sales, revenue and profitability that has always been increasing over years the study findings report that, 50 percent of the farmers strongly agree this socio-economic factor influence the exportation of common beans. While the other 50 percent of the farmers have a neutral perception. Considering effective relationship with foreign partners, the study findings report that 34.07 percent of the farmers strongly agree that effective relationship with foreign partners to the exportation of the farmers are having a neutral opinion on the influence of effective relationship with foreign partners to the exportation of common beans.

Socio-economic factors	5	4	3	2	1
	Frequency and Percentage				
There are reliable traders	38(3.30)	50(54.95)	3 (41.76)	-	-
The crop is marketable	1(1)	32(35.16)	58(63.74)	-	_
The crop commanded a good price	1(1)	53(58.24)	37(40.66)	-	-
Sales, revenue, and profitability has	-	43(50)	43(50)	-	-
always been increasing over years					
Effective relationship with foreign	-	31(34.07)	60(65.93)	-	-
partners					

 Table 7: Reasons for exporting common beans: Socio-economic factors

Scale: 5= Strongly Agree, 4= Agree 3=Neutral 2= Disagree 1= strongly Disagree.

4.3.2 Institutional factors

In determining the reasons for exporting common beans the study also examined institutional factors. The study findings report that, 1.1 percent of the farmers strongly agree that having access to market information influence the exportation of common beans. Also, 23.33 percent of farmers agree on that having access to market information influence the exportation of common beans. However, 75.56 percent of farmers have a neutral attitude towards having access to market information effect the exportation of common beans.

Considering the reduction of international barriers to global trade as a reason for exporting common beans. The study findings report that, 4.40 percent of farmers agree, 94.52 percent of farmers are having a neutral opinion and 1.1 percent of the farmers are strongly disagree with the reduction of international barriers to global trade influence exportation of common beans.

The study also reports that; 14.29 percent of the farmers agree that legal policies influence exportation of horticultural products hence influence the exportation of common beans. However, 84.62 percent of the farmers have a neutral perception and 1.1 percent of the farmers strongly disagree that exportation of common beans is influenced with legal policies which influence exportation of horticultural products.

Additionally, the study reports that 1 percent of the farmers strongly agree, and 18 percent of farmers agree that accessibility of distribution channels for export influence the exportation of common beans. On the other hand, the study findings report that 80 percent of the farmers have a neutral opinion and 1.1 percent strongly disagree that accessibility of distribution channels for export influence the exportation of common beans. The study also considered tariff relief on exportation; the findings show that 7.78 percent of the farmers agree that tariff relief on exportation have a positive effect on exporting common beans. While 92.22 percent of farmers have a neutral perception.

Institutional factors	5	4	3	2	1
	Frequency and Percentage				
Access to market information	1(1.1)	21(23.33)	68(75.56)		
Reduction of international barriers		4(4.40)	86(94.51)		1(1.1)
to global trade					
Legal policies influence		13(14.29)	77(84.62)		1(1.1)
exportation of horticultural					
products					
Accessibility of distribution	1(1)	17(18)	73 (80)		1(1.1)
channels for export					
Tariff Relief on exportation		7(7.78)	83(92.22)		

Table 8: Reasons for exporting common beans: Institutional factors

Scale: 5= Strongly Agree, 4= Agree 3=Neutral 2= Disagree 1= Strongly Disagree.

4.3.3 Production factors

The study also took in consideration the effects of production factors on the exportation of common beans. The findings show that, 4 percent of the farmers agree that having prior experience with the product influence exporting common beans. However, 41 percent of the farmers are having a neutral opinion if exportation of common beans is due to having prior experience with the product. With regard to the growth process of the product, the study findings report that 22 percent of the farmers agree that exportation of common beans is due to the product, are easy to grow. Whereby 23 percent of the farmers are having a neutral perception.

The findings also show that, 1 percent of the farmers strongly agree that the yield from the product is generally good influence exportation of common beans. But also, 16 percent of the farmers agree that if the yield from the product is generally good it influences exportation of common beans. Though, 82 percent of the farmers are having a neutral opinion. Considering the production cost, the study findings show that 1 percent of the farmers strongly agree exportation of common beans is highly influenced by low production cost. Furthermore, 9 percent of the farmers also agree. However, 90 percent of the farmers are having a neutral opinion on the influence of low production cost on exportation of common beans.

Table 5. Reasons for exporting common beans. Troduction factors					
Production factors	5	4	3	2	1
	Frequency	and Perc	entage		
Prior experience with the product		2(4)	32(41)		
The products are easy to grow		4(22)	30(23)		
The yield from the product is generally good	1(1)	15(16)	75(82)		
Production cost is low	1(1)	8(9)	82(90)		

Table 9: Reasons for exporting common beans: Production factors

Scale: 5= Strongly Agree, 4= Agree 3=Neutral 2= Disagree 1= Strongly Disagree

4.4 Impact of common beans export on farmer's welfare

Table 10 presents the results of the impact of common beans export on farmers' welfare with Gross Income from common beans, household consumption expenditure and assets value as outcome variables.

Table 10: Impact of common bean	s export on farmers	welfare: PSM results
---------------------------------	---------------------	----------------------

	ATT for our outcome variables (TZS)			
Matching estimator	Gross income	Assets value		
(algorithms)	from common	consumption		
	beans	expenditure		
Nearest Neighbour	928,000(0.644)	1,530,000	3,990,000(1.112)	
Matching		(2.273)*		
Radius Matching	1,290,000(1.436)	360000 (0.805)	4,570,000 (1.348)	

Notes: ***, ** and * means significant at 1%, 5% and 10% levels, respectively

4.4.1 Impact of common beans export on farmer's assets endowment

Assets were measured in terms of the value of all the durable commodities a farmer had ranging from livestock, furniture, electronics, land, tools and equipment. Their value was estimated using current market prices. Currently, poverty debates reflect a growing interest in the importance of assets for understanding poor people's ability to respond to shortages and shocks and generate future income and consumption (e.g., Anderson, 2012; Dovonan and Poole, 2014). It is further argued that assets provide a better option for understanding the underlying causes and the dynamics of poverty than a focus on income or consumption variables alone (Carter and Barrett, 2006; Dovonan and Poole, 2014). The results depict that there is no significant difference between the assets of farmers who are exporting and those who are trading. Although there is no significant difference on assets endowment, common beans farmers are likely to use part of their income from common beans production to purchase assets and this explains why they probably have more assets than their control counterparts. The insignificant difference indicates that the amount of assets owned by farmers are not directly influenced by common beans export. Thus, common beans export does not have any significant impact on the amount of assets owned by farmers in the study area.

4.4.2 Impact of common beans export on farmer's income

The results in Table 9, show that there is no statistically significant difference in income between farmers who are exporting common beans and those who do not export. This means that they have a stream of income especially when the markets are good. As opposed to their counterparts who only depend on other types of income source, snow peas farmers have an additional source of income. This explains why they probably have more monthly net income as compared to non-snow pea's growers. The results are contrary to the findings of Tolemariam (2010) who found that households 'participation in market development intervention by coffee producers did not have statistically significant impact on their income.

4.4.3 Impact of common beans export on farmer's consumption expenditure

The results show a statistically significant difference between the consumption expenditure of farmers who are exporting and non-exporters of common beans. Those farmers who are involved in common beans exportation depicted to spend more amount of money on various consumption expenditures. This could be explained by the fact that common beans exportation could be giving them more income compared to their counterparts. They are therefore able to afford all the basic commodities in satisfying amounts. They are able to afford good education for their children by taking them to good schools. Also, farmers who are exporting can afford both fresh and non-fresh staples more frequently than farmers who are trading locally.

5.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

5.1 Summary and conclusion

Improving horticultural export is one of Tanzania's policy priorities. In this respect, farmers are expected to play an important role in achieving better growth in the sector. This study was conducted to assess the relationship between horticultural crop export and farmers' welfare using common beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) as a case study in Arusha, Tanzania. Though, the potential for increasing rural incomes through the agricultural export is substantial. Different socio-economic, production and institutional factors play significant roles. The results of this study suggest that common beans farmers in Tanzania are aware of significant role of exporting their crop than trading locally. Results further suggest that different factors such age of a farmer, household size, other business, access to extension and contract farming are likely to influence the decision of farmers to export common beans. In addition, gender, marital status, experience, land size allocated for common beans, contract farming and marketing training can significantly influence the extent of common beans export.

On the other hand, common beans export has a positive impact on farmers' welfare. Allowing for interactions between common beans export and other determinants of common beans' export (socio-economic, production and institutional factors), specifically, it was observed that there is the positive impact of common beans export on farmers' consumption expenditure and does not have any significant impact on farmers' income and assets ownership. This can be interpreted as evidence that horticultural export may have an important causal impact in terms of household welfare to some aspects.

5.2 Policy implications and recommendations

The following policy interventions are suggested. With regards to institutional factors, capacity building on common beans export should be more emphasized to most of the farmers as it has shown to positively influence extent of common beans exportation. Policy attention needs to shift from supporting and regulating particular trade policies but rather should focus on how farmers will be trained and utilize the available opportunity of common beans export market. Also, horticultural contract farming should be strengthened by the government and monitored by the extension officers who are wit farmers to support farmers in acquiring best deals with exporting companies. Results have shown that contract farming has a potential role in increasing the extent of common beans exportation. In addition, with regards to the socio-economic factors, income diversification should also be emphasized to farmers as it was found that those who were engaged in other business were also influenced to export more of the common beans.

5.3 Areas for further research

This study did not analyse the technical efficiency between the two group of farmers, this is an area where further research may focus on comparing their technical efficiency

in relation to the export with given socio-economic, production and institutional factors.

REFERENCES

- Alam, F., & Myovella, G. (2016). Causality between Agricultural Exports and GDP and its implications for Tanzanian economy. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/20.500.12018/2847</u>. Accessed 14/07/2020.
- Anderson, B. (2012). Converting asset holdings into livelihood: An empirical study on the role of household agency in South Africa. *World Development*, *40*(7), 1394-1406.
- Bolwig, S., Gibbon, P., & Jones, S. (2009). The economics of smallholder organic contract farming in tropical Africa. World Development, 37(6), 1094-1104.
- Braha, K., Qineti, A., Cupák, A., & Lazorcáková, E. (2017). Determinants of Albanian agricultural export: The gravity model approach. Agris On-Line Papers in Economics and Informatics, 9(2), 3–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.7160/aol.2017.09020</u>
- Carter, M. R., & Barrett, C. B. (2006). The economics of poverty traps and persistent poverty: An asset-based approach. *The Journal of Development Studies*, *42*(2), 178-199.
- Caves, R. E., Frankel, J. A., & Jones, R. W. (2007). *Factor Endowments and Trade II: The Heckscher-Ohlin* <u>Model.</u> <u>A97–512.</u> <u>https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/frankel/files/cave.6607.cp06.p095-120_0</u>.
- CIAT (2006), <u>http://ciat-library.ciat.cgiar.org/Articulos_Ciat/highlight31.pdf. (Accessed</u> 23/04/2021)
- Craig, J.G. (1971). Some Statistical Models for Limited Dependent Variables with 496 Applications to the Demand for Durable Goods. *Econometrica*; 39:829-44.
- Davison, J. (Ed.). (2019). *Agriculture, women, and land: The African experience*. Routledge.
- De Blasis, F. (2020). Global horticultural value chains, labour and poverty in Tanzania. *World Development Perspectives*, 100201.
- Donovan, J., & Poole, N. (2014). Changing asset endowments and smallholder participation in higher value markets: Evidence from certified coffee producers in Nicaragua. *Food Policy*, 44, 1-13
- Dube, A. K., Ozkan, B., & Govindasamy, R. (2018). Analyzing the export performance of the horticultural sub-sector in ethiopia: Ardl bound test cointegration analysis. *Horticulturae*, *4*(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae404003</u>
- Dube, A. K., Ozkan, B., & Govindasamy, R. (2018). Analyzing the export performance of the horticultural sub-sector in ethiopia: Ardl bound test cointegration analysis. Horticulturae, 4(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae404003</u>

- Estrin, S., & Pelletier, A. (2018). Privatization in developing countries: What are the lessons of recent experience? *World Bank Research Observer*, *33*(1), 65–102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lkx00</u>
- FADPA (2014), Food and Agriculture Policy Decision Analysis –Country fact sheet on food and agricultural policy trend, united Republic of Tanzania.FAO.
- FAO (2020), <u>Trade Statistics Crops, Livestock Products & Live Animal (Accessed</u> 23/04/2021)
- FAO STAT (2021), http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#compare (Accessed 22/04/2021)
- Food and Agriculture Organization. (2013). Entrepreneurship in farming. In D. Kahan (Ed.), Farm management extension guide no. 5 (p. 136). Rome
- Goldman, I., & Ortiz, R. (2017). A Life in Horticulture and Plant Breeding: The Extraordinary Contributions of Jules Janick. *Plant Breeding Reviews*, *41*, 291–360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119414735</u>.
- Gramzow, A., Batt, P. J., Afari-Sefa, V., Petrick, M., &Roothaert, R. (2018). Linking smallholder vegetable producers to markets-A comparison of a vegetable producer group and a contract-farming arrangement in the Lushoto District of Tanzania. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 63, 168-179.
- Guijt, J. and Reuver, R., 2019. Seed companies and the Tanzanian horticulture sector: case study. Wageningen Centre for Development Studies.
- Guiné, R. P. F., Florença, S. G., Barroca, M. J., & Anjos, O. (2020). The link between the consumer and the innovations in food product development. *Foods*, *9*(9), 3–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/foods909131</u>
- Gupta, V. (2020). A Case Study on Economic Development of Tanzania. *Journal of the International Academy for Case Studies*, 26(1), 1-16.
- Herlitz, L. (1964). The concept of mercantilism. *Scandinavian Economic History Review*, 12(2), 101–120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03585522.1964.1040763</u>
- Hernandez, A.R. 2011, "Can Asians Sustain an Export-led Growth strategy in the Aftermath of the Global Crisis? An Empirical Exploration", available online [http://www.adbi.org/workingpaper/2011/12/02/4823.asia.sustain.export.grow th.after.global.crisis/ Retrieved 15/07/2020.
- Human, U. (2020). Women in agriculture: a chance to improve food security. FarmBiz, 6(2), 9-11.
- Juma, I., Fors, H., Hovmalm, H.P., Nyomora, A., Fatih, M., Geleta, M., Carlsson, A.S. and Ortiz, R.O., (2019). Avocado Production and Local Trade in the Southern Highlands of Tanzania: A Case of an Emerging Trade Commodity from Horticulture. *Agronomy*, 9(11), 749.

- Kanyangemu, A., &Kundu, K. K. (2019). Trade Performance of Agricultural Commodities of Tanzania. *Indian Journal of Economics and Development*, 15(3), 427-434.
- Kuzilwa, J., Ilembo, B., Mpeta, D., & Coulson, A. (2019). Contract Farming in Tanzania: Experiences from Tobacco and Sunflower. In D. Potts (Ed.), *Tanzanian Development: A Comparative Perspective* (pp. 116-139). Boydell& Brewer. doi:10.1017/9781787444294.00
- Lwesya, F. (2018). Export Diversification and Poverty Reduction in Tanzania. *Romanian Economic Journal*, 20(68), 93-110
- Maginga, T. J. (2019). Development of horticulture extension support system for the small holder farmers: A case of Tanzania (Doctoral dissertation, NM-AIST).
- Mallya, S. (2019). Factors for adoption of greenhouse farming technology among farmers-A case of Kinondoni district-Dar es salaam (Doctoral dissertation, Mzumbe University).
- Mashindano, O., Kazi, V., Mashauri, S., &Baregu, S. (2013). Taping Export Opportunities for Horticulture Products in Tanzania: Do We Have Supporting Policies and Institutional Frameworks?.ICBE-RF Report
- Match Maker Associates (2006), Final Report, Contract Farming: Status and Prospects for Tanzania. Report.
- Match Maker Associates (2017), Final Report, Phase 1: Mapping of production of fruits and Vegetables in Tanzania, <u>https://www.rvo.nl/sites/default/files/2017/05/Studie%20Tanzaniaanse%20Tui</u> <u>nbouwsector%202017.pdf</u>
- Match-Maker (2017). Horticulture Study, Phase 1: Mapping of production of fruits and Vegetables in Tanzania. Final Report. 39pp
- Mayala, N. M., &Bamanyisa, J. M. (2018). Assessment of market options for smallholder horticultural growers and traders in Tanzania. *European Journal of Research in Social Sciences*. 6(1), 27-42
- Meme, S. M. (2015). Export performance of the horticultural sub- sector in kenya-an empirical analysis. September, 54. http://erepository.uonbi.ac.ke/bitstream/handle/11295/93214/Meme_Export Performance of the Horticultural Sub-sector in Kenya-an Empirical Analysis.pdf?sequence
- Mishra AK, Mottaleb KA, Mohanty S (2015) Impact of off-farm income on food expenditures in rural Bangladesh: an unconditional quantile regression approach. *Agric Econ* 46(2):139–14
- Mold, A. and Prizzon, A. (2008) Explaining Africa Recent Performance and Limited Gains from the Commodity Boom. Paris, France: OECD Development Centr

- Muriithi, B. W., & Matz, J. A. (2015). Welfare effects of vegetable commercialization: Evidence from smallholder producers in Kenya. *Food Policy*, *50*, 80–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2014.11.0</u>
- Myovella, G. A., Paul, F., &Rwakalaza, R. T. (2015). Export-Led growth hypothesis: evidence from agricultural exports in Tanzania. *African Journal of Economic Review*, *3*(2), 74-84.
- Ng'atigwa, A. A., Hepelwa, A., Yami, M., &Manyong, V. (2020). Assessment of Factors Influencing Youth Involvement in Horticulture Agribusiness in Tanzania: A Case Study of Njombe Region. *Agriculture*, 10(7), 287.
- Nguyen, A. T., Dzator, J., & Nadolny, A. (2015). Does contract farming improve productivity and income of farmers?: A review of theory and evidence. The Journal of Developing Areas, 49(6), 531-538.
- Nwaru, J. C. & Iwuji, O. (2005). Marketing Margins and Their Determinants in Plantain Marketing in Owerri Agricultural Zone of Imo State, Nigeria. In A.M. Orheruata, S.O. Nwokoro, M.T. Ajayi, A.T. Adekunle, & G.N. Asumugha, Agricultural Rebirth for Improved Production in Nigeria (eds.), In proceedings of the 39th Annual Conference of the Agricultural Society of Nigeria, University of Benin, Benin City, Nigeria, 385 – 38
- Ojiewo, C.O., Rubyogo, J.C., Wesonga, J.M., Bishaw, Z., Gelalcha, S.W., Abang, M.M. (2018). Mainstreaming Efficient Legume Seed Systems in Eastern Africa: *Challenges, opportunities and contributions towards improved livelihoods*. Rome, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 72 pp.
- Okello J. Juma, Narrod. C and Roy D, Food Safety Requirements in African Green Bean Exports and Their Impact on Small Farmers, IFPRI Discussion Paper 00737
- Okoffo, E. D., Denkyirah, E. K., Adu, D. T., &Fosu-Mensah, B. Y. (2016). A double-hurdle model estimation of cocoa farmers' willingness to pay for crop insurance in Ghana. SpringerPlus, 5(1), 873.
- Opolot, H. N., Isubikalu, P., Obaa, B. B., & Ebanyat, P. (2018). Influence of university entrepreneurship training on farmers' competences for improved productivity and market access in Uganda. *Cogent Food & Agriculture*, *4*(1), 1469211.
- Pernechele, V., Fontes, F., Baborska, R., Nkuingoua, J., Pan, X. &Tuyishime, C. (2021). Public expenditure on food and agriculture in sub-Saharan Africa: trends, challenges and priorities. Rome, FAO.
- Press, T. M. I. T., & Press, W. (2016). International Organization Foundation Neomercantilism and International Economic Stability Author (s): Paolo Guerrieri and Pier Carlo Padoan Published by: The MIT Press Stable URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2706741 Accessed: 19-08-2016 16: 21 UTC . 40(1), 29–4

- Prowse, M. (2012). Contract farming in developing countries A review. ADF"s Research Development. Report
- Rao, V. (2000). Price heterogeneity and "real" inequality: A case study of prices and poverty in rural South India. *Review of Income and Wealth*, 46: 201–211.
- Relf, P. D., & Lohr, V. I. (2003). Human issues in horticulture. *HortScience*, *38*(5), 984–993. <u>https://doi.org/10.21273/hortsci.38.5.98</u>
- Salasya,B.S. (1989) Economic Analysis of the Major Factors Influencing Exports of French Beans from Kenya. MSc. Thesis (unpublished), University of Nairo
- Samwel, J., Msogoya, T., Kudra, A., Mtui, H.D., Baltazari, A., Sullivan, J.A., Subramanian, J. and Mwatawala, M.W. (2020). Pre-harvest field application effects of hexanal formulation on fruit losses in mango grown in eastern Tanzania. *Journal of Crop Improvement*, 34(3), 366-377.
- Sanjuán-López, A. I., & Dawson, P. J. (2010). Agricultural exports and economic growth in developing countries: A panel cointegration approach. *Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 61(3), 565-583.
- Singh, S. (2008). Understanding practice of contract farming in India: A small producer perspective. Working Paper, CMA, IIM, Ahmedaba
- Snapp, S., Rahmanian, M., Batello, C. (2018). Pulse crops for sustainable farms in sub-Saharan Africa, edited by T. Calles. Rome, FAO.
- Snapp, S.S., Rohrbach, D.D., Simtowe, F. & Freeman, H.A. (2002). Sustainable soil management options for Malawi: can smallholder farmers grow more legumes? *Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment*, 91: 159–174.
- TAHA(2011).HorticulturalValueChaininTanzania.http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/agphome/documents/horticulture/Whttp://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/agphome/documents/horticulture/Whttp://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/agphome/documents/horticulture/Whttp://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/agphome/documents/horticulture/W
- Tanzania Horticulture Association (TAHA) (2018). Scoping Project: Tanzania's Horticulture Industry Business Opportunities; Netherlands Enterprise Agency: Utrecht, The Netherlands.
- URT (2010). Tanzania Horticultural Development Strategy 2012- 2021, Hodect Tanzania. Report
- URT (2016).National Five Year Development Plan 2020/21, Tanzania
- Van den Broeck, G., Van Hoyweghen, K., & Maertens, M. (2018). Horticultural exports and food security in Senegal. *Global Food Security*, *17*, 162–171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2017.12.00</u>
- Vemireddy, V., & Pingali, P. L. (2021). Seasonal time trade-offs and nutrition outcomes for women in agriculture: Evidence from rural India. Food Policy, 102074.

- Warra, A. A., & Prasad, M. N. V. (2020). African perspective of chemical usage in agriculture and horticulture their impact on human health and environment. In Agrochemicals Detection, Treatment and Remediation (pp. 401-436). Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Wodjao, T. B. (2008). A double-hurdle model of computer and internet use in American households. Michigan: Depart-ment of Economics, Western Michigan University